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Enter the SF Gateway …


In the last years of the twentieth century (as Wells might have put it), Gollancz, Britain’s oldest and most distinguished science fiction imprint, created the SF and Fantasy Masterworks series. Dedicated to re-publishing the English language’s finest works of SF and Fantasy, most of which were languishing out of print at the time, they were – and remain – landmark lists, consummately fulfilling the original mission statement:




‘SF MASTERWORKS is a library of the greatest SF ever written, chosen with the help of today’s leading SF writers and editors. These books show that genuinely innovative SF is as exciting today as when it was first written.’





Now, as we move inexorably into the twenty-first century, we are delighted to be widening our remit even more. The realities of commercial publishing are such that vast troves of classic SF & Fantasy are almost certainly destined never again to see print. Until very recently, this meant that anyone interested in reading any of these books would have been confined to scouring second-hand bookshops. The advent of digital publishing has changed that paradigm for ever.


The technology now exists to enable us to make available, for the first time, the entire backlists of an incredibly wide range of classic and modern SF and fantasy authors. Our plan is, at its simplest, to use this technology to build on the success of the SF and Fantasy Masterworks series and to go even further.


Welcome to the new home of Science Fiction & Fantasy. Welcome to the most comprehensive electronic library of classic SFF titles ever assembled.


Welcome to the SF Gateway.







INTRODUCTION


Alexandra Novak


In the winter of 2002, I was invited to London to research the lives and work of a number of British women of science, including Mary Somerville and her younger friend Ada Lovelace, for an online virtual museum of women of science (www.strongwomanstory.org). In the course of that research I was privileged to make, or to be part of making, a number of discoveries. Some were of no interest to anybody but me, but one is of very general interest, and it is here presented as fully as possible—which is perhaps not as fully as it might be in future. The story that follows must, in other words, remain tentative, and the reader is asked to suspend disbelief for the present, as a novel or a romance asks us to do, and only attend.


Ada Augusta King, Countess of Lovelace, Lord Byron’s only legitimate child, traveled to Nottinghamshire in September of 1850 to visit the ancestral seat of the Byrons, Newstead Abbey—which Lord Byron had sold years before, and which was then in the possession of a Colonel Wildman, an old schoolmate of Byron’s. Returning south, Lady Lovelace and her husband went to the races at Doncaster: they were both, as it was then said, devotees of the turf. Ada backed Voltigeur, which won an upset over the favorite, Flying Dutchman. The win didn’t come close to canceling Ada’s racing debts, which she kept secret from her husband. In May of 1851, the Crystal Palace exhibition opened in London; in August of that year, Ada was told that the illness she had been for some time suffering from was serious, indeed fatal—it was cancer of the cervix, for which there was then no treatment. Sometime in that autumn (Ada was careless in dating her letters) she mentioned to her mother, Lady Byron, that she was at work on “certain productions” involving music and mathematics. In November of 1852, after much suffering, she died of cancer; she was then thirty-six years old (her father died in the same year of his life). Between the date of her visit to Newstead Abbey and her death she acquired, transcribed, annotated, enciphered, and destroyed—at her mother’s request or order—the manuscript of the only extensive piece of prose fiction ever written by her father.


The story of the rediscovery of Ada’s enciphered manuscript after 150 years, its acquisition by the Hon. Miss Georgiana Poole-Hatton, its deciphering and authentication, is told in as great detail as is presently possible in the Textual History and Description which follows this Introduction. Of course it is still possible that what is presented here as the work of Lord Byron, annotated by Ada Lovelace, is not that at all. It might be that Ada herself wrote the novel as well as the notes; that someone else wrote the novel and sold it to her (or to those who then sold it to her) as Byron’s; that both the novel and the annotations are forgeries, dating from sometime between Byron’s or Ada’s time and now. All that can have been done to eliminate these possibilities has been done. Tests indicate (though they can’t prove) that the ink and paper date from before the middle of the nineteenth century; internal evidence in the novel does not point toward a date later than Byron’s death, nor a date later than Ada’s in the notes. The handwriting in the notes is demonstrably Ada’s, though it differs in certain ways from other writings of around the same period, perhaps because of her hurry, or because of the effects of the drugs she was taking almost continuously in ever larger amounts. For reasons explained in the Textual History, it is not possible at this time to trace the physical provenance of the manuscripts or the trunk in which they were allegedly found. For the moment each reader must decide for herself whether she is indeed in contact with these two persons, the poet and his daughter, and hearing their voices in these writings. I think I do hear them; I can’t imagine that they could be anything but what they seem to be.


If the novel is what it purports to be, then where was it before Ada got it, and who acquired it for her? In her own introduction to the manuscript of the novel (pages 46–62 of the present book), Ada states that she arranged to see the man who had the manuscript, an Italian who had acquired it from another who had acquired (or perhaps stolen) it in Italy, when she visited the Crystal Palace. I thought at first that the man who accompanied Ada on that visit must have been Charles Babbage; it was just the kind of thing that Babbage was forever doing for her. He did show her around the site of the Great Exhibition as it was being constructed; but Babbage had had a public controversy with the planners and been entirely excluded from all the planning for the Crystal Palace exhibition; his famed Difference Engine wasn’t displayed there. It seemed unlikely that he would have been eager to go there with her. So who was the go-between, who negotiated with the Italians, who then later went to get the manuscript? It seemed impossible to know, until I came upon an undated note from Ada to Fortunato Prandi, who was one of those in the emigre Italian circle she and Babbage knew—something between a radical activist, a spy, and an agent, maybe a double one. Here is the note, which is in the Carl H. Pforzheimer Collection at the New York Public Library.




Dear Prandi. I have a more important service to ask of you, which only you can perform … I can in writing explain nothing but that you must come to me at 6 o’clock, and be prepared to be at my disposal till midnight. You must be nicely yet not, too showily dressed. You may have occasion for both activity & presence of mind. Nothing but urgent necessity would induce me thus to apply to you;—but you may be the means of salvation. I will not sign. I am the lady you went with to hear Jenny Lind. I expect you at 6.—





“A more important service” implies a previous service, which might have been the visit to the Crystal Palace and the glimpse of the man with the gold earring; the present service would then be the actual acquisition of the MS. This is all merely speculative. It certainly seems that something conspiratorial was afoot, but in those years Ada worked up a lot of plots and entanglements. There is much further exploring to do among the Italians in London, and in Ada’s papers, and in Babbage’s too. There are for instance the several mentions in the Babbage/Ada correspondence of a “book,” not further described, that must be passed back and forth between the two of them at intervals, with care taken over its delivery, etc. When I found these I wondered if I had actually caught Byron’s novel in transit, so to speak. A recent biographer of Ada* suggests that the “book” may rather have been the betting book Ada was keeping: she had become consumed by horse racing, and ended by selling her family jewels to pay her gambling debts—and then reselling them again after they had been redeemed by her baffled and compassionate husband. (So the story has always run: and yet now we have to wonder if those family jewels weren’t also the source of the money Ada needed to buy The Evening Land from its possessors.) In any case the mentions of this book predate the opening of the Crystal Palace and therefore the period in which the book of Byron’s was acquired.


What is certain is that it was from Babbage that Ada learned about codes, ciphers, and enciphering. The cipher Ada used for enciphering Lord Byron’s novel is a variant of the Vigenere cipher, a cipher known since the sixteenth century, which a contemporary of Babbage’s rediscovered without knowing it had long been used though never cracked. When Babbage pointed this out to him, he challenged Babbage to solve a text he encoded with it. Babbage was able to break the cipher, but he never published his solution. He also designed a wheel, like a circular slide rule, that made it easier to set up a cipher and then read off the substituted letters; maybe Ada had one, and used it for The Evening Land. Babbage looms over, or lingers behind, the story of Ada like a stage manager or trickster, or like one of the busy mechanical people he loved to show off, whose motives are unreadable, maybe nonexistent, and whose powers are unguessable. In the end (of the story, or of our ability to understand it) he merely bows, and draws his curtain.


Ada, as noted, was very lax about dating her letters, and there are no dates given in her annotations of Byron’s manuscript, and none on the single note to Francisco Prandi. But it seems to be just before the manuscript came into her possession that Ada’s relations with her mother took a new turn. Her biographers trace this change to her visit to Newstead Abbey, her father’s former estate, which somehow awakened her feelings for her father and her Byron ancestors. “I have had a resurrection,” she wrote a little incautiously to her mother. “I do love the venerable old place & all my wicked forefathers!” It’s hard to know what would have happened to this manuscript if Ada had discovered it earlier—if she had found no reason in her own heart to protect it. Clearly her mother (like Snow White’s) wouldn’t have allowed it to exist within her kingdom.


But she did preserve it. Whether she perceived that her mother would eventually find it, either among her papers when she died or as she worked over it to make a fair copy; or if she only set about enciphering it after Lady Byron discovered it, and before she agreed to destroy it, can’t be known. The labor of recasting the whole fifty-thousand-plus words of the manuscript into her cipher was so huge that it must have taken her months. My sense is that it wasn’t long after Lady Byron discovered its existence that it was given up to be burned, and that Ada knew it would be, and by that time she was ready, with a pile of “mathematical and musical work” in her desk that no one would inquire about.


In that month she summoned her husband to her, and made him promise that she would be buried beside her father in the Byron family vault at Hucknall Torkard church, where she had seen and touched his casket on her journey to Nottingham in 1850. It had been her secret that she had decided even then to be buried there. She chose an epitaph too, that she told her husband she wanted put on her own casket. It was from the Bible, in which she had evinced so little interest during most of her life. It comes from the Epistle of James: You have condemned, you have killed the righteous man; he does not resist you. The first meaning of this remarkable choice is so obvious—she believed her father (whose remains would be lying next to her own) was a righteous man, unjustly condemned and exiled by the society around him—that it seems we discover its second meaning for ourselves: that Ada, though herself dying, would no longer resist those who condemned her. She ceased altogether to resist her mother; she wrote out, at her mother’s instruction, pledges of affection for her mother’s friends, including those she had called the Furies, who had so willingly constrained and punished her when she was a child. She agreed that her mother should have control over all her papers. She confessed her “errors,” and confessed them again. She jettisoned her life.


At some time in these months—the note describing it has no date—she wrote to her mother to say that the manuscript of her father’s novel had been burned. (A transcription of this letter can be found in the Appendix.) I can find no documentary evidence of Ada’s informing her that the manuscript existed, or that she had acquired it, but the papers of the Lovelace family are so extensive that it might still turn up, not having been understood for what it is. I have found no document in her mother’s hand expressing a desire, or an order, that the MS be burned. But it certainly was her wish, if Ada is to be believed.


So all was done. She had surrendered to her mother as to death. And yet still she didn’t die: throughout that autumn she lingered, unwilling or unable to go. Meanwhile her mother prayed with her, and discussed her “errors” with her (she wrote to her Christian correspondents how gratifying it was that Ada saw them and confessed them): these no doubt included her gambling, her pawning of the family jewels, and her single adultery, but it’s likely they also included all the irreligious and skeptical things she’d thought. She lived in a kind of twilight, scribbling notes only her mother could read, terrified that she would be buried alive, asking over and over who stood at the door, who stood at the end of the bed, when no one was there. Charles Dickens really did come to visit her, at her request (they had been friends for years) and read to her from Dombey & Son, the scene where little Paul Dombey, dying, sees a vision of his mother come to stand at the end of his bed. When Babbage came to visit her, Lady Byron turned him away.


In October Ada’s son Byron, now Viscount Ockham, whom she had above all wanted near her, had been sent away by Lady Byron, because in what Lady Byron called “this state of suspense” he might “receive injurious impressions.” Now he was brought back, for one last visit before returning to his naval duties and his ship at Plymouth. It was decided—by Lady Byron—that the boy should not bid a final farewell to his mother, as she would not be able to bear it; he only went to the door of her room, and looked inside a last time. It’s uncertain whether she knew he was there.


But Ockham didn’t return to his ship. He packed his midshipman’s uniform in a carpetbag, and sent it home to his father. Then he disappeared. Lord Lovelace, distraught, called the police and hired a detective. This is the description of Ockham he ran in the London Times, with an offer of a reward for the boy’s discovery:




nearly 17 years of age, 5 foot 6 inches high, broad-shouldered, well-knit active frame, slouching seaman-like gait, sunburnt complexion, dark expressive eyes and eyebrows, thick black wavy hair, hands long and slightly tattooed with a red cross and other small black marks …





This description, including those dark, expressive eyes that somehow seem to have come from his grandfather and namesake, was circulated at the principal ports of embarkation for America—Bristol and Liverpool—as though Lord Lovelace had reason to think his son would be found there, and he was—at an inn in Liverpool, where he was living with “common Sailors” and trying to get a passage to America. He didn’t resist the detective who found him, and came home again.


This much of Ockham’s story has been known for some time. Some of Lady Byron’s connections and relatives found it shockingly hard-hearted of young Byron to cause this grief to his family at just this moment. What has not before been known was that at some time during his stay there—possibly when he guessed he would be caught—he put into a Liverpool bank vault the chest containing his seaman’s papers, some letters and other personal mementos, and the enciphered novel and the notes for it which his mother had committed to him. How clear it must have been to her—for she had her moments of clarity, those awful and pitiless and wondrous moments that do light up final illnesses, as anyone who has witnessed one knows—that he would try his best to preserve it. Did she want him to escape, as well? What was it she told him—to go straight from her house and her room, where she lay dying, away from everything, and to America?


He never did. He was put back into the Navy. He eventually won a discharge, or deserted, it’s unclear what happened. After more unhappy years—at home under Lady Byron’s care, then under the direction of the famed Victorian schoolmaster Thomas Arnold—he ran away again, and this time wasn’t pursued; he worked as a coal miner and then as a laborer in a shipyard, living under the name of Jack Okey. He died in 1862 of consumption, aged twenty-six. The dead can’t learn or change, but the one thing I would like Lord Byron to hear, the story I would most like to get a letter from him about, is the strange and sad story of his grandson, who wanted not to be a lord.


What follows then, I believe, is the result of a triple honoring. I want to say, of a triple love—the love of a father for his daughter, a daughter for her father, a son for his mother—but I can’t see into hearts long dead, and one of those involved left no record at all.






IN JUNE 1816, IN Switzerland, as he began the novel he would at some point call The Evening Land, Byron completed canto 3 of Childe Harold’s Pilgrimage. In the last stanzas he spoke directly to his faraway daughter—while knowing of course that his wife, and the whole reading world, were listening in. “The child of love, though born in bitterness,” he calls her. “Yet, though dull Hate as duty should be taught / I know that thou wilt love me …” Perhaps he did know this; certainly he seemed to know he would never see her again:




I see thee not,—I hear thee not,—but none


Can be so wrapt in thee; thou art the friend


To whom the shadows of far years extend:


Albeit my brow thou never should’st behold,


My voice shall with thy future visions blend,


And reach into thy heart,—when mine is cold,—


A token and a tone, even from thy fitther’s mould.





And so it did; his voice did reach into her heart. Lord Byron also never got to America, nor did he ever return to England; Ada never went abroad to see him—as she might have today, if her father could have been properly treated for his illnesses, if her mother had not retained a lifelong horror of her husband, if the world then had been more like the world now, if things weren’t as they are and were. But his voice reached into her heart, as it would have done, I believe, whether or not she had ever found the novel that here follows.






ACKNOWLEDGMENTS TO ALL those scholars and investigators who helped to authenticate and account for the manuscript of The Evening Land may be found following the Textual History. I would myself like to express here my own debt to two people for their help to me in solving the puzzle of The Evening Land and its fate: Dr. Lee Novak, for his editing of the deciphered manuscript, for his annotations of Ada’s annotations, but much more for his many insights and his encouragement; and Dr. Thea Spann, whose cunning and constancy were both indispensable, and whom I can’t find words to thank.


Kyoto
June 10, 2003






I began a comedy, and burnt it because the scene ran into reality—a novel, for the same reason. In rhyme, I can keep more away from facts; but the thought always runs through, through … yes, yes, through.






• BYRON, JOURNAL, NOVEMBER 17, 1813 •







2. British Women of Science
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Ada Byron, Countess of Lovelace


Dec. 10, 1815–Nov. 27, 1852


First Computer Program, 1842–1843


Ada Byron was the daughter of the Romantic poet George Gordon, Lord Byron, and Anne Isabella Milbanke, who separated from Byron just a month after Ada was born. Four months later, Byron left England forever. Ada was raised by her mother, Lady Byron, and had no further contact with her father (who died in Greece in 1824).


Lady Byron had a penchant for mathematics, and saw to it that Ada was tutored in mathematics, science, and other topics rather than in literature and poetry, to counter any tendencies she might have inherited from her father, who was famous for being “mad, bad, and dangerous to know.” Ada built her imagination on science, from electricity to biology to neuroscience. She earned fame in scientific circles. An anonymous Victorian best-seller about evolution (Vestiges of the Natural History of Creation) was widely believed to be hers, though it wasn’t.


In 1835, Ada married William King, ten years her senior, and became Countess of Lovelace in 1838. Ada had three children; her younger son was named Byron, and later became Viscount Ockham.


Ada’s friend of many years was Charles Babbage, a professor of mathematics at Cambridge and the inventor of the Difference Engine. This large machine, which took years to design and build, was actually more of a calculator than a computer, using the “method of finite » differences” to cast logarithm tables and make other calculations. Ada met Babbage in 1833, when she was just 17.


Babbage had made plans in 1834 for a new kind of calculating machine, an Analytical Engine, which (as Ada perceived) truly was a forerunner of the modern computer—it could be programmed to produce (and print out!) results of many kinds. Ada noted that the Analytical Engine could weave algebraic patterns just as a Jacquard loom could weave birds and flowers. (Jacquard’s loom wove patterns determined by a sequence of punch cards.) In 1842, an Italian mathematician, Louis Menebrea, published a memoir in French on the subject of the Analytical Engine. Babbage asked Ada to translate the memoir, and she added a set of Notes longer than the memoir, which expounded the vast possibilities of such a machine, and included a small program of step-by-step instructions that the proposed machine could follow to solve a particular problem. However brief and primitive, this is the first workable computer program—an instruction set that a machine can follow to reach a result.


Ada died of cancer in 1852, at the age of 36, and was buried beside the father she never knew. [AN]


[NOTE: Page still under construction]


N.B. Text reproduced from the 2006 Harper Perennial print edition but website no longer in use.




ONE


In which a Man is baited by a Bear, and of the precedents of this


OBSERVE—BUT NO! No one may observe, save the unfeeling Moon, who sails without progress through the clouds—a young Lord, who on the ramparts of his half-ruined habitation keeps a late watch. Wrapt in a Scotch mantle little different from that worn in all times by his ancestors—and not on the Scotch side alone—he has a light sword buckled on, a curved and bejewelled one not of this northern land’s manufacture. He has two pocket pistols as well, made by Mantons—for this is a year in the present century, tho’ what the youth may see in the moon’s light is much as it has been for these past seven or eight. There is the old battlement that faces to the North, whereon he stands, whose stones he rests his hand upon. Beyond, he sees the stony cliff, bearded in gorse and heather, that builds toward the mountains, and—for his eye is preternaturally sharp—the thread of a track that for aye has ascended it. Black against the tumbled sky is the top of a farther watchtower, reached by that selfsame track. Farther on, in the darkness, lie a thousand acres of Caledonian wilds and habitations: to which this outwatching youth is heir. His name, the reader will perhaps not expect to hear, is Ali.


Against what enemy does he go armed? In truth he knows of none—not his servants asleep in the hall below—not bandits, or rivals of his clan and the Laird his father, such as might once have threatened from the dark.


The Laird his father!1 The reader will remember the man, if the reader be one who listens to tales in London theatre-boxes, or frequents race-courses, or hells; if he have haunted Supper-clubs, or places with less euphuistical names; known Courts, or Law-courts. John Porteous—who inherited, on the death of his own amazed and helpless sire, the singularly inappropriate title Lord Sane—was a catalogue of sins, not only the lesser ones of Lust and Gluttony but the greater ones of Pride, Anger and Envy. He wasted his own substance, and when it was gone wasted that of his wife and tenants, and then borrowed, or coerced, more from his terrified acquaintanceship, who knew well enough that the Lord would stint at nothing in revealing their own indiscretions, to which often as not he had tempted them in decades past. ‘Black-mail’ was a word he professed to shudder at: he never, he said, employed the mails. What he spent these gains upon, however got, seemed less of interest to him than the expenditure itself; he was always ready to tear down what he contrived to possess, just in the moment of possession. It was just such an outrageous act of destruction that had earned him the sobriquet, in a time that liked to bestow such, of ‘Satan’. He was a wicked man, and he took a devilish delight in it—when he was not in his rage, or maddened by some obstacle to his desire; indeed a fine fellow, in his way, and of a large circle. He had travelled extensively, seen the Porte, walked beneath the Pyramids, sired (it was said without proof) litters of dark-skinned pups in various corners of the South and East.


Of late ‘Satan’ Porteous has kept much to his wife’s Scotch estates2, which he has improved and despoiled in equal measure. Onto the ancient towers and battlements and the ruined chapel a former Laird added a Palladian wing of great size and bleak aspect, ruining himself in the process; there the present Laird kept Lady Sane, well out of the fashionable world and indeed out of the world entire. She is rumoured to have gone mad, and as far as Lord Sane’s heir knew of her, she is not all of sound mind. The lady’s fortune ‘Satan’ ran through long before—then when he had need of funds, he squeezed his tenants, and sold the timber on his parks and grounds to be cut, which increased the melancholy sense of ruination there far more than did the windowless chapel open to the owl and the fox. The trees grew a hundred years; the money’s already spent. He keeps a tame bear, and an American lynx, and he stands them by him when he calls his son before him.


Yes, it is he, his father, Lord Sane, of whom Ali is afraid, though the man is this night nowhere nearby—with his own eyes Ali saw his Lordship’s coach depart for the South, four blacks pulling with all their strength as the coachman lashed them. Yet he is afraid, as afraid as he is brave; his very being seems to him but a candle-flame, and as easily put out.


The Moon was past midheaven when, shivering tho’ not from cold, Ali retired. His great Newfoundland dog Warden lay by his bed, so fast asleep he hardly roused at his master’s familiar tread. Oldest, and only true, friend! Ali pressed for a moment his face into the dog’s neck. He then drank the last of a cup of wine, into which a minim of Kendals drops3 were dropt. Nevertheless he did not undress—only wrapt his mantle close about him, his pistols within reach4—propped his watchful head upon cold pillows—and—believing he would not sleep—he slept.


In deep darkness he woke, feeling upon him a heavy hand. He was one quick to wake, and might have leapt up, taking up the pistol near at hand—but he did not—he lay as motionless as though still asleep, for the face that looked into his, tho’ known to him, was not a man’s. A black face, the eyes small and yellow, and the little light shone upon teeth as long as daggers. It was his father’s tame bear,5 the hand upon him its hand!


Having ascertained that Ali was awake, the black beast turned away and trotted across the chamber floor. At the door, which stood ajar, it looked back at Ali, and what it would convey in its looking back was evident: it meant Ali to follow it.


The young Lord arose. What had become of his dog Warden? How came the door to be unbolted? The questions appeared in his mind and then vanished, unanswered, like bubbles. He took up his curved sword, tossed back his tartan cloak, and the bear—as soon as it saw that Ali intended to follow—stood to a man’s height, pushed open the door, fell again upon its four feet, and went ahead down the dark stair. It seemed odd that no one else in the house had roused, but this thought vanished too as soon as thought. Ever and again the bear turned back its great head to see that the young Lord followed after, and went on. Tho’ he may stand on two legs to startle and amaze his enemies or reach the fruit on a high branch, the black bear goes on four legs like a dog for preference; and tho’ his claws and teeth rival the lion’s, he is a mild gentleman, and prefers a meatless mess.


Thinking this—and nothing else of all the things he might be thinking, on such an errand—Ali went out through the blasted park and across the arch of a narrow bridge flung in a former time over a tumbling flood, then away from the road and up the white clay track which, before, his eye had traced in the moonlight, toward the watchtower. And—mysterious—the Moon had made no further progress across the sky, but shone as and where it had, and the wind blew coldly, come across the Atlantic, and the Irish isles, and America—this Ali pondered, who had not ever seen those places—and he walked along behind the inkblot of his ursine guide as though a little afloat on the way, as though no effort were asked of him to mount.


The watchtower stood ahead, and the bear lifted itself again to stand as a man does, and with a curved yellow nail indicated it. The door at its base was long fallen away, and a light could be seen, dull and guttering, within.


‘I may not go farther,’ said the bear, and Ali took note of its speech without wonder. ‘What lies in yonder tower is for thee alone to find. Do not mourn; for sure I shall not, for he has been as cruel to me, nay to all dumb things whatever, as to thee. Farewell! If ever thou shall see me after, think that thy time is come, and a different journey is to go on.’


Ali was of a mind to seize the beast, beg or demand to be told more, but it was already faded, as it were, upon the dark air, only its words remaining. Ali turned toward the tower and its light.


Thereupon the world and the night gave a sort of shudder, as a shudder may pass over a calm sea, or a horse’s flank; and like a building fallen around him in an earthquake, the Night fell away in pieces, his Sleep shattered, and he awoke. He had slept, and dreamt! And yet—most strange—still he found himself on the track to the watchtower, which stood ahead—more far off than in his vision, and a deal more solidly made of stone and mortar, but the same—the earth and the air likewise—and his own Self. He had no knowledge that such somnambulations6—as they are termed—could be;—knew not how it could be that in a dream he could have armed himself, gone out his House, climbed a Hill, and not tumbled down and broke his neck. A species of wonder flew over him like an icy draught—and dread too, as icy but contracting to his heart, for he could see, even from where he stood, that there was, as in his dream, a small light within the tower.


Now the Moon was almost down. He felt, as much as perceived, the way ahead. Not once did he think to turn back, and later would consider why he had not:—because he had been told to go on—because it lay ahead—because he could do no other.


Not only the door but all the floors within this ancient pile were decayed and fallen away, no trace left of them, the tower hollow as a whitened marrow bone, the top open and a few stars visible. Otherwise blackness, and the single light, a lantern that burned its last drop of oil as though gasping for breath. He must turn, Ali must, to see what thing the lantern’s shuttered beam fell upon—was aimed upon, certainly of a purpose!—and he finds, some three feet in the air, a form like a man’s—face black, eyes starting from their sockets as they stare upon him, black tongue thrust out as in mockery. The strong rope from which this form depends is strung from the upper floor’s stone brackets, and winds about him like a spider’s thread. It is no devil from Hell, caught in his own toils—and yet, it is all we know of such in this our earthly life—and his name is Legion. The man in the ropes is ‘Satan’ Porteous, Ali’s father, Lord Sane, DEAD!


HOW A YOUTH bearing the name of the Prophet’s son-in-law, a youth whose skin was bronze and whose eyes were onyx, came to reside in a far land nearby to Thule, where blue-eyed boys with hair of tow or straw sprout palely beneath the low-lying sun, may not be beyond conjecture—ships and carriages care not whom they transport, nor from where to where else, and many a London house can boast a blackamoor at the gate, or a turbanned Hindoo at table-side. But that such an one should not only be resident in a Scotch Thane’s house but its Heir—that, as it seemed by the ghastly sight that transfixed him there in the tower, he was now in very truth the successor to the bound and strangulated Lord who seemed to stare back at him, and possessor of all his titles and his fiefdoms—that may be thought to merit explication.


In spite of his being brought thence at an early age—or perhaps because of it, for the Heart obeys its own logic and no other in respect of the workings of Memory—Ali retained an unclouded vision of his childhood land. For sure he knew not, when he was a child, what mother had borne him, nor what his father was, or had been—he was accounted an Orphan, and had always lived with an aged guardian in a simple cot, or han, in the mountains of the province of Ochrida in high Albania7—amid scenes which, if ever as a child he pondered the question, he would have believed began with himself, at the beginning of Time: and surely of these mountains it can be said, as of few human habitations, that they have persisted unchanged since Adam’s day, or at least Abraham’s.


He tended flocks, as his forebears always had: his goats provided his milk and his meat, his wide Albanian belt, and his sandals—when he put on such, which was not often. They demanded little enough tending, for in that country the goats are left daylong to their own devices, which are many; you may come upon them in the deepest wood, or see them hanging on the high rocks’ highest point, like the goats in Virgil, and only when they are gathered in the evening, and the children with their sticks drive them within the walls, do they appear to be at all domesticated. In the Winter Ali and his fellows took them to the mountains, and in Summer drove them again to the warmer plains; and, the harvest being done and the vintage taken in, the goats were let out upon the vineyards, where they ate and contended and disported themselves—with Bacchus’ blessing—in the expected manner, to their masters’ increase. All the ancestry that our Thane-to-be knew of, was that old man—a Shepherd, rapidly going blind from the open fires within his han, whose smoke exited, or more often did not exit, from a hole in the roof. Few Albanians can reach a very advanced age without suffering to some degree the effects. Tenderly Ali saw to his needs—and brought him his flat-bread, his bowl of coffee, his chibouque to smoke in the evening. The touch of this old blind man—as rough and plain as though he were only the eldest of the goats they tended—was much of what Ali knew of love: though not all.


For there was another child who was also given into the old man’s care—a girl, whose name was Iman, not more than a year older than Ali, orphaned like himself—or so they believed and said, what time they spoke of it, which was not often—for as children do, they thought not to ask the world why and wherefore they had come to be as they were, content to know themselves, and one another, as they knew the heat of the sun, and the taste of the mountain’s water-springs. Her hair was as the raven’s wing, but her eyes—as is not uncommon in that land—were blue, not the blue of our Anglo-Saxon blondes but the blue of the deep Sea—and into those frank and wide orbs, so seldom cast down, Ali fell entirely. Poets talk of maidens’ eyes, and divagate endlessly upon them, and we are to understand that by those liquid spheres they mean to indicate all the beloved object’s parts and attractions—which we are free to speculate upon. Yet Ali was hardly conscious of what other charms his little goddess possessed—in her eyes he did indeed drown, and could not, when she looked upon him, look away.


In another, colder clime, Ali forgot progressively that language he had first lisped in, and grown up to speak; but he never forgot what she said to him, or what he answered; the words were not as other words, they seemed as though minted in gold, and even long after to speak them over to himself was to enter a little treasure-house where they alone were kept. Of what did they two speak? Of everything—of nothing; they were silent, or she spoke, and he answered not; or he boasted wildly, his eyes upon hers, to see if his tale would keep her—and she listened. ‘Iman, go thou the long way—these flints will cut thy feet.’—‘Ali—Take this bread of mine, I have enough for two.’—‘What do you see in that cloud? I see a hawk with a great beak.’—‘I see a fool who makes hawks out of clouds.’—‘I must go for water. Come with me—I sha’n’t be long—Take my hand and come!’


They two were the only souls in that land—each the only object of the other’s thought. As two swans take their turns to lift their wide wings and thresh the air, and walk upon the water for each other’s delight—what they spoke of was of no matter—so that their intercourse continued, and was repeated. She—imperious as a queen, bare-foot though she was—could cause and did cause suffering when she chose—perhaps only to test her power, as one might test a stick against a hapless blossom; soon enough she was sorry, and they again compounded, with many caresses and offerings of kindness.


It may be averred that a passion of such degree is not possible in one so young—for Ali had hardly reached his second decade—and it is perfectly logical for them to think so who have never felt it—such ones we may not persuade, and so do not address:—whoever has known such a feeling in earliest youth has known a singular power, and will keep a memory of it in his inmost heart, which—though against it no other and later may be measured—yet it will be the Touchstone against which all others will be struck, to see if they be true gold, or counterfeit.


Throughout that time it was seen that Ali—though in truth the lad took no particular notice of it—was marked in an especial way; favours and gifts came upon him from sources unclear—a delicacy of victuals—a bright scarf for his head—a look of approval or of interest from his elders. On his reaching a particular anniversary—though which year in his short life it was, he did not know, for an uncertainty surrounded his birth-date as it did his true ancestry—he received, from the same font of benefactions, an old pistol, which he was proud to stick in his belt, only sorry that it must reside there all alone, where all men of the least standing carried two at a minimum and a dagger or short sword beside. He never had occasion to discharge this piece, having no powder given him along with it—and this was likely to have been a lucky thing, as in that country such old weapons—though finely worked upon the stock in silver—were often neglected in their barrels, and locks—and commonly burst—or burned the hand that used them.


Thus armed in manly wise, and having a firm compact with his Iman, he went to the han to seek out the old shepherd, who was in his eyes the rule and wisdom of his world, and finding him among the men around the common fire, told him that it was his intention to have the girl for his wife.


‘That you cannot,’ said the old one, responding as gravely as he had been demanded of. ‘For she is your sister.’


‘How is it she can be my sister?’ Ali responded. ‘My father is unknown, and who my mother was, that matters not.’ Indeed it mattered much—to him—who that lady might have been—and in his throat there came a catch when he made this bold dismissal—he must rest his hand upon his weapon, and set his feet apart, and lift his chin, so it would not be noticed; but in the legal sense he was correct, and the old man acknowledged it with a nodding of his head: no inheritance comes through the mother alone.


‘And yet she is your own clan and kin,’ said he to Ali. ‘She is your sister still.’ For among those clans of Albania’s mountains, brother and sister can name any blood relation in the same generation, and a connexion in the tenth or even the twelfth degree is forbidden. And now round the fire those who sat on the men’s side—and those on the other side spinning their distaves—had taken notice of Ali’s suit, and he heard laughter.


‘I will have no other, I say, and so says she,’ he said in a big voice, at which the laughers laughed the more, and nodded and puffed their pipes, as though delighted that one so young should kick against the pricks,—or because they thought it a great jest that such a claim should be asserted, which never could be made good. Ali thereupon—knowing himself for the first time mocked because he knew not the world’s ways—which were not his own—looked upon them all in anger, and—lest he weep—turned on his heel, and went out, pursued by further and louder cackles of glee; and for a time he would speak to no one, and answer naught when spoken to: even if it were Iman herself.


A little later he received a mark of distinction different in kind from those he bore already. On a certain night he was taken among the women, and the eldest beldame laid bare the boy’s arm, and with her best and sharpest needle—the old shepherd guiding her hand with his words—she punctured repeatedly the skin of Ali’s right arm. The blood welled darkly at each small wound, and yet the boy grit his teeth—and would not cry out—and at length was formed there a rayed circle, and within it a serpentine mark that might be seen to be a sigma—tho’ for sure not by those unlettered folk. The old woman, humming and clacking with her tongue to soothe the boy, daubed the place now and again with a clout of lamb’s-wool, and studied her work as any craftsman might, and here deepened and there enlarged—till Ali nearly fainted—though no complaint had yet escaped his lips. Then finally his tormentor took a pinch of gunpowder, and rubbed it in the pin-holes she made—let whoso has had gunpowder by any chance touch an open sore bethink him what Ali felt then, as the beldame’s thumb pressed the stuff in, and rubbed it well, and mingled it so with flesh and blood as to color it forever. Then—as we see on the limbs of the sailors of all nations, not excepting our own most civilised one—there was impressed upon Ali’s right arm a mark that (supposing the arm remained attached to the body, a thing not to be regarded as certain in that land, or among those people) could never be erased. A common thing it is indeed in those mountains, and any man might show one or two such—but the mark upon Ali was of a new design, and all who saw it knew it.


Upon his release from this cruel typographer, Ali sought out the company of his little love, and they two walked alone, and it may be that with her he permitted himself to shed a tear from pain, or perhaps he was brave Ali still. Surely she comforted him—and gazed with wonder upon the new mark—and fain would touch it—and he suffered her—for sharp and deep and lasting as it was, there was another and a deeper, in a place that could not be seen—he knew, but could not say!


IN THE LAST DECADE of that century, the Empress of Russia, infamous Catherine, advanced, with her ministers, a scheme—one of many such, which persist among the Czars her heirs to this day—to overcome Constantinople and dissolve the Porte; and to advance this scheme, she compounded with the mountain peoples of Suli, and of Illyricum, and Albania, promising them freedom and the rule of their nations when the Turk their oppressor was defeated. They rose at her promise—who were accustomed to rise without any such—though now with greater fury, and in larger numbers. Not long afterwards, Great Catherine changed her mind—for she was, however Imperial, however Great, a woman—and the campaign against the Sultan was abandoned—and a treaty signed—and many marks of eternal peace and amity exchanged. The fighters of the Highlands were thereupon abandoned by their Russian allies, and the Sultan’s vengeance upon them was simply this, that he withdrew from their lands his own Governors and Generals, and gave rein to the freebooters and brigand chieftains, who had no longer any constraints upon their activities—which consisted only of robbing, murdering, slave-taking, extortion of tribute, and otherwise of contesting with one another, the best man to win. In this way the Sultan’s retribution was exacted for him, and he needed merely to watch and see which of the rivals would defeat the others, and pile their skulls upon the plain—on him the Sublime, the Merciful, could then bestow the title of Pacha.


The tyger who ate all the other tygers bore the same name as our young hero, and would come to rule over wide lands, with his seat at Jannina—a pachalick greater than any forged there before him, and an army so large that the Sultan in Constantinople was pleased to call him vassal, without daring to demand much in the way of further duty from him. His fame spread widely, in the Gazettes and the foreign newspapers he was now and then called the Buonaparte of the East, he had even commendation from the other Buonaparte, whom he actually equalled in deeds, given that he had smaller compass—proportionally as many of heads removed, life-blood spilled, Widows and Orphans made, eyes put out, villages razed and livestock and vintage despoiled—though no more than the European’s were his wars and his arms able to dry a single tear, or cure the least sorrow: and so much for Greatness, in the little or in the large.


This Pacha8 was preparing his armies to fall upon the lands that our Ali’s clan inhabited—for those stern people had refused allegiance to him, and to his titular overlord of the Porte. They had cut the throats of his messengers—this being the common response among those peoples when a request is to be declined—and the Pacha had grown impatient. He had a grandson, too, a pretty boy-Pacha, as bedight with jewels and daubed with paint as a Mayfair hostess—for the mighty of the East love so to adorn their cherished Sons, and it does not spoil their characters—at least this one’s was not spoiled, for he desired lands as fiercely as Papa did, and heads to chop off ditto, and enemies to spit and roast. The Cohorts were now readied, the turbanned soldiers gathered by the hundreds within and without the great courtyard of the palace at Tepelene, the kettle-drums were beat, the ululations were sounding from the Minaret, when a visitor, a Bey from the northern lands the Pacha had earlier conquered, appeared and begged for an audience—for he had a boon to ask—and a story to tell—and when, in an upper room the pipes had been called for and lit, and the lengthy compliments paid, and the coffee drunk—he told it.


A dozen years before, this Bey related, he was traversing those lands which (as everyone well knew) the Pacha now intended to subdue and attach to his pachalick. His purpose in journeying there had been that he might shoot, if he could find one, a son of a family in that region, with whom his own family was in blood—engaged in a blood feud whose beginning the eldest of their families could not remember, and whose end might come never, for when the brave and desperate men of one family despatched a son or cousin in the first or the tenth degree of the other—with a single shot, commonly, for they take careful aim; or perhaps with the edge of an ataghan suddenly cold against the throat; at night by the lonely path, or in the public market at the blaze of noon—then it became the duty of the other to renew the vengeance.


(As in other matters, the Albanians are by us accounted ‘lawless’ for their incessant feuds, in which blood must answer blood; yet they are in fact bound, like the Greeks of Æschylus, by the sternest of Laws, from which there is no appeal. Of murder they have a horror no different from that of other peoples, and for the taker of life there is ample and swift punishment—when the murderer can be found—but still the higher law of Honour knows no exceptions, and to fail to fulfill it is universal and inexpungible shame. Our laws—when we choose to obey them at all—lie far more lightly upon us.)


Thus, the Bey explained, he had done the deed of vengeance expected of him, and cleansed his Honour, and thereupon had fled into the hills, hotly pursued by his victim’s relatives, who were intent on taking their turn in the game, and removing an opposing man from the board. His horse having stumbled and been lamed, he was on foot—suffering severely from thirst and hunger—and growing delirious. He sought a Cave into which he might creep, knowing his enemies were near, but was unable to go further—he heard the sound of their horses drawing nigh, and their voices crying upon him—and he readied himself for a brief defence, and likely death. Then there came another noise—the sound of another troop of horse, coming from another direction—and as he watched, this new company appeared before him, interposing themselves between him and his pursuers. The Captain of this troop was an Englishman, though such were at that time so rare in the fastnesses of Albania that the frightened Bey did not recognize this—his scarlet tunic frogged in gold, his high boots and white gloves, were outlandish indeed though dusty and soiled and out at heel, and his followers a mixed party of hired Suliote warriors, a few men in red like their leader though not so splendid, and a Turkish sipahi. What caused them to take the embattled Bey’s side in his quarrel, the Bey himself did not know, but their numbers—and the Suliote guns—and the British soldiers—all persuaded the pursuing band to slink away. The grateful Bey, making deep obeisance before the Englishman, felt himself taken up and looked upon with a Gaze neither warm nor cool—neither reassuring nor alarming—the indifferent gaze of a beast, or a head carved in stone: at which the Bey felt his heart turn cold within him. Nevertheless he made it known to his saviour that all he had was now his, his Life and Goods were his to command, and that he desired nothing more than to offer his oath of Brotherhood in perpetuity—which the Englishman was seemingly disposed to accept. That evening, then, the much-restored Bey and the great Englishman became Brothers, in the usual fashion—that is, they pricked each a forefinger, and dropt a few drops of blood—the Bey pleased to observe that the other’s was as red as his own, and thus that he was a man and not a Jinn—into a cup of wine, of which they both drank.


‘Now,’ the Bey asked of his new relation (for the ritual they had partaken of made them as truly kin as if they had been sired by the same Father), ‘tell me, if you will, why you have come into this country, and where you go.’—‘That I shall not,’ said the Englishman (he spoke through the Turk, who alone was fluent in both tongues), ‘for the reasons are not such as would bring honour to you to know. Where I go, I know not, for I confess to you that at this moment I know not where I am.’—‘As to that,’ said the Bey, ‘I can instruct you; and now my house, which is not two days’ travel away, is yours; go there, give to my steward this ring, and you shall receive all that you require. For myself, I must avoid the place, as my enemies will wait upon me in that neighbourhood; but when they have been disappointed in their aim, and gone away, then you and I will meet there again.’—‘Done,’ said the Englishman; and in the dawn they parted ways.


Some time later, when the Bey felt it safe to return to his house, he found it not as he had left it. The Englishman and all his troop had gone, after making free, as it seemed, with the Bey’s stores and his stable. His Wife—the youngest of his three, the best-beloved, the most beautiful, the blue-eyed—hid from him, in fear—or shame—or both, and the reason became clear enough in time: whether by force or suasion, the great Redcoat had helped himself to the one thing belonging to his Brother that he might not, and there would be fruit of his transgression.


The unhappy Bey, out of respect for the brotherhood he still and irrevocably held with the Englishman, would not slay this wife on the spot, as another man might, and as he had every right to do—and here the Pacha nodded in entire agreement—but instead contained his anger, and waited, till the child was born, a goodly lad, and well-made—after which the poor woman was unprotected, and shortly suffer’d the long-postponed wrath of her husband. Her child he soon sent away to the far limits of that country, with an old Shepherd for his only protector: to this old man the Bey communicated a certain sign, with which, if the boy lived, he desired him to be marked.


Now the years had passed—the Bey’s own sons had fallen to the horrid exigencies of feud, and one by one been murdered by the sons and grandsons of the men their father and their uncles and grandsires had long ago murdered; and the Bey repented of his stern rigor in that time—he better remembered his beloved wife, so like a gazelle, and his love for her. Therefore he asked that he be allowed to accompany, or precede, the Pasha’s forces into that land, and seek out the boy—whom he would know by the mark he bore, which the Bey now drew in the dust of the floor for the Pacha to study—and whom he intended to restore to his House, and take for his own. And should any of the Pacha’s soldiers come first upon him, if he be in arms, the Bey begged that the boy’s life be spared, and that he be remanded to him.


The Pacha heard his supplicant out—and ply’d him subtly with further questions—and fell to thinking, and to tugging at his wonderful beard, and stroking it and smelling of it, as though wisdom might come to him of itself out of it; and he clapped his hands for his servants to fill his guest’s pipe and cup, and intimated that what he asked might be done, if it were possible—the Bey would have his answer in time—and he then went on to speak of other matters.


The honest Bey took his leave of the Pacha, and set out upon his road. Immediately the Pacha sent certain men after him—and if that Bey ever reached his home and his haram again, those men sent in pursuit of him would not afterward dare to be seen as far as the Pacha’s power reached, which was to the ends of the earth as they conceived it. Soon thereafter the Pacha’s horde fell upon the lands where Ali’s adopted clan had for lifetimes lived and herded, to bring their Chiefs into subjection, and their tribute into his Coffers.


There is that in human hearts—and not only in hearts that have learned from written Histories, or the orations of Statesmen—which loves Liberty above Life; and which greater oppression only enlarges—for ‘like the chamomile, the more it is trodden upon, the faster it grows’—which may well be true, of chamomile, though I cannot say so of my own experience; of Liberty, I know that the Suliote women who, pursued by the Pacha’s troops in an earlier time, and seeing all lost, threw themselves with their babes in their arms from the height of the Zalongue rocks rather than surrender, acknowledged no higher good; and were not persuaded to prefer Tyranny above even the direst and last alternative.


The Ochridans, freedom-loving like the Suliotes, but not so famed for fierceness, ran before the wind of the Pacha’s forces—among which were now many hired Suliote warriors, be it said—bearing what goods they could upon their backs or in their wooden carts, and leaving their simple cots to burn behind them. Ali and Iman, driving their complaining goats before, hurried through the valleys to the North, but their flight was as vain as a coracle’s, that rows beneath the storm-wave’s fall; before they could see the foe that came upon them they could feel the hoofbeats in their own bare feet. The men of their clan—holding a high point, and resisting the onrush with cries and gunfire (more cries than gunfire, for they were but poor in arms as in much else) only to win time for their women and children to escape—vain hope!—are soon ridden over; Ali turns in his flight to see a great Stallion bear down upon him and Iman, the man upon its back lifting a glittering curved sword on high, and the wind lifting in turn his capote around him, his teeth bared like a wolf’s as though he meant to employ them too in vastation. Ali draws his weapon, charged with the single ball and jot of powder he has been able to appropriate; he stands before his Lady, and aims—none who has not withstood a charging Suliote horseman will know his courage!—and fires, or rather misfires—yet the rider pulls up, so violently as almost to bring down horse and self alike. His wolvish teeth now displayed in a gladsome smile, he takes hold of Ali’s arm, that still bears the useless pistol; he sees the mark upon it—laughs in delight, for the Pacha has announced a prize, and he has won it!—and with a single mighty swinge he lifts the boy (who will always be slight, though strong and well-formed) upon his horse’s crupper. Iman, seeing this, shrinks not, flees not, hesitates for not a moment before she attacks the horseman with her little fists, a tyger—and for a moment it seems the roaring warrior may lose his prize, having both to keep the boy astride and the furious girl away—what madness has the Devil visited upon the two, that they will not part?—but at length he kicks his steed, and Ali is borne away too swiftly to free himself. Iman races after him calling his name, and Ali’s own free hand (the other being clasped in the strong grip of the warrior) still reaches out toward her as though it might somehow cross the widening gap between them—as his heart, his soul, does cross it, borne on the cry he makes, leaving his breast as though for ever, to remain with her. The grievous cries of children, endlessly multiplied! Surely they must storm Heaven, surely to them the ears of even the hardiest of brigands must attend, and their hearts be softened—and indeed they do attend, sometimes, but not very often—only a little more often, perhaps, than does Heaven.


Ali’s captor now turned back, against the swell of battle, if battle it could be named, and kicked harder his horse’s flank; and Ali, who had before tried with all his might to leap from his bounding perch upon the beast’s rump, now in fear clung to the rider, lest he be flung from that height down upon the stones, or under the hooves. When some leagues had been put between the two of them and the Pacha’s still-advancing forces, the warrior slowed his pace; and Ali—already farther from home and familiar scenes than he had ever been—had no choice but to keep his seat, and bounce along into what might come. No word had yet passed between him and the rider—perhaps they would not have understood each other’s dialect—and indeed there was nothing to say—for Ali knew not what to ask, and the other would not have answered. When the day was at length drowned in green evening, they made their camp, and the brigand gave food to his captive, and, smiling upon him as before, bade him with many gestures to eat his fill; but when they retired—upon the ground, beneath the blanket of their capotes, and the black tester of the infinite spangled night—he tied Ali’s wrists to his own wrist by a thong of leather. Then did Ali beg to know what was to become of him, and why he alone had been rapt from the catastrophe of his people and his beloved; whereupon—whether he understood, or did not—the fellow ceased to grin, and waggled at Ali a long and dirty finger, expressive of Prohibition and Silence, and turned to sleep. Ali at his side wept, when he thought he would not be heard: wept, for Iman—for his old Mentor—for his goats, whose familiar names he spoke in silent syllables—for the life of slavery he had reason to be certain was all that was to come.


But instead—and one who has read the tale thus far will not be astonished to learn it—he was brought after many stages to the Pacha’s house in Tepelene, the largest and finest he had ever seen, not as a slave but as an honoured Guest. He was brought before the Pacha himself, who smiled upon him, and caressed his dark curls—took his hands in his own, and look’d gloatingly upon the mark he bore—placed him on his silken Sopha at his right hand, and gave him sugared nuts, and sweetmeats, while his own grandson look’d on shocked and affronted. When we know nothing at all of the world beyond a single valley and its slopes and vineyards, then we are perhaps not so amazed at the things that befall when we are suddenly and swiftly transported beyond it, having no means to form expectations. Ali took no exception to his treatment by the smiling old tyrant, and was moved neither to gratitude nor devotion; he put on without question the rich apparel that was given him, consisting of a long white kilt of softest wool9, a gold-worked cloak, an embroidered vest heavy as a breastplate, great belt, and a scarf for his head of as many colors as Joseph’s coat. Only the sword that the Pacha himself put in his hands, curved and brilliant like the Devil’s smile and meant as much for hurt, moved him, and caused him to speak—he vowed that he would not ever after be parted from it: nor would he, till years had passed, and a stern magistrate demanded its surrender—but all that was long to come, in a far land he yet knew naught of. How he went thither, and what then befell him, all remains to be told; however, having proffered more than sufficient matter for a Chapter, I shall here break my page, and rest my pen.




From: “Smith” <anovak@strongwomanstory.org>


To: “Thea” <thea.spann133@ggm.edu>


Subject: Hey


Sweetie—


Here I am, here I really am. God what a trip that is. I know you said so but jeez. I think that pill you gave me was the wrong one—it was sposed to be a valium right—well I took it somewhere out over the Atlantic and had a mini-bottle of wine and slept 20 minutes and then I was AWAKE from then on, and jittery and anxious—are you sure it wasn’t some kind of upper? And then you get to London and it’s dawn of the next day, though it should be like two in the morning, and you can’t get in your hotel till noon—what do you do? Well I put my stuff in the Left Luggage at the train station and went walking. In the RAIN. I had my raincoat but I needed an umbrella. I went to the Lost Property Office—remember Frankie told us that was such a great place? And I wrote down the address? Well it is great—and they had hundreds of umbrellas people had left on trains—and briefcases and hats and PRAMS (?what happened to the babies?) and books and bundles. The little guy there was so cute—with suspenders (I mean braces) and a tie tucked in his shirt and a little toothbrush moustache. He showed me umbrellas. I got a Swain Adeney. The absolute best. He said so. It’s got a big thick handle of some kind of bamboo. “You can use it as a cosh,” the guy said, and showed me.


So now anyway I’m in Bloomsbury and the room Georgiana got me is nice and I don’t know how I can still be awake, I feel like any second I’m just going to pitch forward onto the keyboard. It’s still too early to call you. I get to meet Georgiana at five. For TEA and talk about what to do next. I am a little nervous. I’ve never seen a picture of her even, but I know just what she’s going to look like. Do you ever have this thing where you set out on some trip that seemed like a good idea and suddenly it feels like you jumped off a cliff, or contracted a disease you’ll never shake, and all you want is to be home. O that my love were in my arms and I in my bed again. The small rain down can rain. Write me. I love you.


Smith


From: “Thea” <thea.spann133@ggm.edu>


To: “Smith” <anovak@strongwomanstory.org>


Subject: RE:Hey


babe so good to get the note and find youre not in the drink maybe having a drink tho thats good


listen you know thats the first time you ever wrote that i l y you did say it a couple of times thats important or maybe it isnt but listen heres something i went to dinner with barb and some of the craftspeople those people she knows they were nice but sometimes I dont have much to say to them you know about yarn or wood or whatever but they were asking about me getting the biz on me and I talked about you and I said the woman whos my partner thats the first time Ive said that partner it just came out then i worried is it okay


anyway i l y 2


me


From: “Smith” <anovak@strongwomanstory.org>


To: “Thea” <thea.spann133@ggm.edu>


Subject: RE:Re:Hey


Howdy, podner—


Tea with Georgiana was not just what I thought. She lives in St. John’s Wood, which isn’t a wood, just a part of town, a nice part; an old messy apartment, and she’s not an ancient dame in lace, she’s a skinny stringy woman who looks a little like Jessica’s mother, that sort of worn Waspy type, of course they’re all Waspy here, and she was wearing jeans and a sweater. But nice really. Her apartment is so full of books and papers and journals that it’s hard to find a place to sit; she showed me her bedroom, which was so full you can’t get to the bed, she sleeps in another room, a little den. Every room has a fireplace with this little fake coal fire in it, electric. “The electric fire” she says. It’s so funny. She insists on calling me Alexandra. Her head sort of bobbles when she talks, like those silly dogs people put in the back of their cars. I like her a lot.


We ate the tea (it’s a meal, you know, not just a drink) which was a little primitive, cookies out of a box and some bread and butter, though she took a long time with the tea and it was strong and nice. Then I was sitting on her couch and she went off to answer the phone and she talked a long time, this little droney English voice, and I tried to overhear, and, then suddenly I opened my eyes and she’s looking down at me smiling. I fell asleep. For like ten minutes she said. Embarraseeeen as Rocky says. I said I was all right but she put me in a taxi. Oh well.


So now it’s 2 AM and I’m full of pep. Write me again, and again


S


From: “Smith” <anovak@strongWomanstory.org>


To: “Thea” <thea.spann133@ggrh.edu>


Subject: Georgiana


10 AM. Back to Georgiana’s. She said she wanted the site shut down while it was redesigned, and I said that I thought that was a bad idea. She hates the pop-ups and the ads. She said it was like trying to read an encyclopedia article in the middle of Piccadilly Circus, “you’d say Times Square.” She won’t talk about how much money it would take to redo the whole site and relieve it of advertisers, but she certainly has big ideas. Of course I really don’t get to say Okay hey, show me the money, and what do I care anyway? Let the Sondra (Lilith) Mackays of the world worry about that, I just do my job. Anyway it seems now I’m working for her. So we hovered over the site and talked.


I learned that a long time ago she wanted to get a degree in math (she says “maths”) from a US university but her family talked her out of it. So there’s the primal scene. And now she’s the head of the family and can do what she wants. She didn’t say that.


WOW. I’m exhausted. I’m going to be here a month at least, and do Mary Somerville, Charlotte Angas Scott, Rosamund Franklin, and Ada Lovelace, and a couple of others I never heard of. See me rubbing my hands together? That’s glee, not the chill. (It’s weird: the “electric fire” is all the heat there is, and if you get out of range of it—like on your way to the bathroom—it’s cold as hell.)


World’s longest email. Write me again and again.


S




Mom—Don’t you love these lilacs—they’re at Kew Gardens—remember, “Come down to Kew in lilac time,” I haven’t been there yet but the postcards are everywhere No lilacs yet though. I’m here doing research for the Web site. I don’t have a real address yet—I’ll call you soon to let you know.


Love Alex PS Hi to Marc





From: “Smith” <anovak@strongwomanstory.org>


To: “Thea” <thea.spann133@ggm.edu>


Subject: Amazing


So guess what, one day after I get here to look at letters and papers of Ada Byron King, Countess of Lovelace. An amazing thing. One of those things that happen to me, that come after me to happen. Those where I tell you: ah, the world isn’t what we think it is. And you just roll your eyes up, mathematician.


Somebody got in touch with Georgiana yesterday with an offer. Some papers have turned up and this person (Georgiana isn’t even saying a name) wants to sell them to Georgiana because she’s like a collector and the person knows she’d be interested because the papers are Ada’s! Georgiana says she wasn’t told exactly what they were but the person told her they were “extensive” or anyway there was one big something. They were found in a trunk that’s claimed to have been the property of Ada’s son. Whose name was Byron. (His first name. Ada’s father was George Gordon, Lord Byron, the poet.) The son was also a lord, Lord Ockham. So Georgiana is going to go and look at them, and she wants me to come. She’s not really sure what’s up here and this is all a little odd to say the least (she said) but she asked me wouldn’t it be such fun to see them. Well sure. I’m ready.


So see? Amazing things gather around your lover & podner. Don’t tell me it’s all random. Some things are Meant To Be.


Smith


From: “Thea” <thea.spann133@ggm.edu>


To: “Smith” <anovak@strongwomanstory.org>


Subject: Not amazing


gosh weird good luck with this woman better you than me


just because its important or interesting doesnt mean its not random things wouldnt be random if they were uniform if they are truly random you have to expect crazy runs of luck you dont get more than anybody you just notice it more or maybe you do get more because some people would have to randomly get more but who gets more is randomly distributed have to think about that one but anyway theyre only amazing to you because they have to do with you


like meeting you was amazing to me amazing luck but not not-random just amazing and it still is


t


From: “Smith” <anovak@strongwomanstory.org>


To: “Thea” <thea.spann133@ggra.edu>


Subject: RE:Not amazing


Thea—I know—coincidences are only important if they’re important to me—or to you—frinstance—but I’m a historian (sort of, anyway) and history’s made of coincidences—you hate history and you don’t think it’s important because after all people in the past were wrong about science and that’s that.


Ada and Byron and me and these papers and Georgiana and now: that’s what I mean.


S


From: “Thea” <thea.spann133@ggm.edu>


To: “Smith” <anovak@strongwomanstory.org>


Subject: RE:Re:Not amazing


okay i dont get it i never read byron and im not going to start now all i know about ada is whats on the site and what i have heard like the first computer program which i always wondered about you think i hate history and think its unimportant for science because science is only one way but no not math math is partly about the history of math i just never thought ada was a real part of it so explain to me what all this is and who byron is and adas son is dont write too much and i will try to remember


t


From: “Smith” <anovak@strongwomanstory.org>


To: “Thea” <thea.spann133@ggm.edu>


Subject: Story


Thea


Here’s the story as I know it, which isn’t very well, not yet, but I feel I’m going to have to learn it lots better.


Byron (1788–1824, I just looked it up for you, no trouble) was a famous poet and a broke lord when he married Annabella Milbanke. He was 24, she was 18. He was like a rock star, like Mick Jagger: in the sense of being somebody who made women faint, and in the sense of being an innovator, making up something that seemed completely new, and in the sense of his poetry being about his own hot self. He was also bi. He was demonic, sort of—they say—and one of his lovers said he was “mad, bad, and dangerous to know.” That’s the famous phrase. Annabella was kind of uptight, a sheltered single child, high-minded, with zero sense of humor. She had studied math, which Byron thought was unladylike and sort of comical. They were a hopeless couple, and I don’t know why they chose each other. When they had Ada they’d been married two years, a tough two years, and the marriage fell apart. He was a disaster as a husband—taking opium, drinking, making nightlong scenes, having affairs with actresses. And she found out he was having an affair with his half sister Augusta. Or she found that out and that he had had affairs with boys when he was in Greece; or those things plus he tried something on her in bed that was a sin, and a crime too, you guess what. He was drunk the night that Ada was being born, and came in after it was over and said Is it dead?


So Lady B. stood this for another month, and then she ran off with the baby, and demanded a separation, which she got, and he left England forever, and never saw Ada again. Her mother (always called Lady Byron) never told Ada much about him, and she was always afraid Ada might inherit his criminal mad tendencies. (Remind you of anybody? Yeah, me too.) Then he died in Greece in 1824 when Ada was 9. She didn’t encounter him again until a ship brought his body home—pickled in a barrel of alcohol. “Papa’s ship,” she said. The mourning for Byron was huge, it was like Princess Di: a bishop said he couldn’t be buried in Westminster Abbey (too wicked, I guess), so his remains went by carriage to his home village in the North, accompanied all the way by vast crowds bringing flowers, tributes, tears, etc. Ada would never forget.
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